# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
SEP 1 1995

CASE NO. 86,155

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

JOSE CABAL,

Petitioner,

-V\$-

# THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

# **BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS**

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1320 Northwest 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1960

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Petitioner

# **

# INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, JOSE CABAL, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, the State, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the lower court. The parties will be referred to as they stood before the lower court. The designation "R." will refer to the record on appeal, and the designation "T." will refer to the separately bound transcript of proceedings.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant, Jose Cabal, was tried with a co-defendant on an information charge that on July 29, 1993, they committed strong-armed robbery¹ with a mask.² (R. 9-10; T. 1 et seq.)³ The evidence established that after shopping on the afternoon of July 29, 1993, the victim Pellecchia was about to enter his Southwest Dade residence when two males wearing hoods (pillow cases with eyeholes cut out) approached him, wrestled him to the ground, took his gold Rolex watch, and drove away. (T. 355-65, 384-86, 407-10, 515.) Shortly thereafter, police observed a vehicle fitting the description of the ensuing BOLO, and after a high speed chase, the car was stopped, resulting in the arrest of the defendant passenger and the co-defendant driver. (T. 487-95.) Based on the recency and course of the chase route; the car and physical descriptions match; and that a license plate on the stopped vehicle was recently and partially attached, the defendant and co-defendant were circumstantially linked as being the robbers. (T. 384-86, 407-10, 418, 421, 428-29, 454-55, 487-95, 515, 520-21; 557-58, 564-65.)

The defendant was found guilty of robbery with a mask (R. 28), and was adjudicated guilty of that offense graded as a first-degree felony. (R. 44.) The defendant was sentenced, within a permitted sentencing guidelines range computed with the gradation of offense as first-degree felony, to four-and-a-half years imprisonment. (R. 47, 49; T. 880.) On appeal, the Third District rejected the

<sup>§ 812.13(2)(</sup>c), Fla. Stat. (1993).

By information reference (R. 9) to § 775.0845, Fla. Stat. (1993).

The information, as amended, duplicatively charged both defendants in each of two counts with the singular offense (R. 9-10). In recognition of this, at the outset of trial the State nol prossed the second count. (T. 38-41.)

defendant's contention that the offense could only be graded and scored within the guidelines as a second-degree felony, and affirmed certifying conflict:

We affirm based on the authority of <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). We also certify conflict with <u>Woods v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), <u>Archibald v. State</u>, 646 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), and <u>Spicer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

Affirmed; conflict certified.

Cabal v. State, 656 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995.)

Timely notice to invoke the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court was thereupon filed.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Section 775.0845, relating to commission of criminal offenses while wearing a mask, only operates to extend the available statutory maximum to the next specified grade of offense, and not, as do other statutes, to reclassify the offense itself or to permit such reclassification in guidelines scoring. The offense of strongarm robbery, while wearing a mask, entails a statutory maximum of thirty years imprisonment, but itself remains a second-degree felony and must be so scored under the sentencing guidelines.

### ARGUMENT

THE OFFENSE OF STRONG-ARMED ROBBERY WHILE WEARING A MASK IS PROPERLY GRADED, AND IS PROPERLY SCORED UNDER THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, AS A SECOND-DEGREE FELONY, NOT A FIRST-DEGREE FELONY.

The defendant was convicted of strong-arm robbery, which is graded as a felony of the second degree, § 812.13(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), while wearing a mask. § 775.0845, "Wearing mask while committing offense; enhanced penalties(,)" provides in pertinent part:

The penalty for any criminal offense . . . shall be increased as provided in this section if, while committing the offense, the offender was wearing a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his identity.

(4) A felony of the second degree shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the first degree.

It is the central contention of the appellant that while the statute represents a functional extension of the statutory maximum for conviction in such circumstances, it neither raises the gradation of offense in and of itself nor allows a higher gradation of offense to be assumed for guidelines scoring purposes.

First, there is a clear distinction in Florida law between classification (gradation) of offenses, § 775.081, and penalties, § 775.082. While some criminal statutes provide for reclassification of the degree of offense (i.e., for regradation) upon a specified predicate, see, e.g., § § 775.087(1) and 775.0875, other statutes, such as the subject statute herein (§ 775.0845), simply provide for "enhanced penalties," i.e., for a given degree of offense to be "punishable as if it were" a next higher degree offense. As has been appropriately stated, "we [should be] critical of the commingling of the terms 'reclassification' and 'enhancement'...

its practical effect, but the legislature has chosen to make a distinction. . . . Reclassification speaks to the degree of the crime charged(.)" Cooper v. State, 455 So. 2d 588, 589 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), rev. den., 464 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1985).

As further appropriately observed in <u>Spicer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), holding that invocation of the subject mask statute does not reclassify strong-arm robbery to a first-degree felony and therefore the habitual offender statute can only be applied to such offense as a second-degree felony:

Penal statutes must be construed in terms of their literal meaning. State v. Jackson, 526 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 1988). Words used by the legislature will not be expanded to broaden the definition of such statutes. Perkins v. State, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991). If the legislature had intended section 775.0845 to reclassify offenses, it would have so stated, as it did in section 775.087, Florida Statutes (1989): "Possession or use of weapon; aggravated battery; felony reclassification," and in section 775.0875, Florida Statutes (1989): "Unlawful taking, possession, or use of a law enforcement officer's firearm; crime reclassification; . . . " (Emphasis added.) In fact, section 775.0875 is similar to the habitual offender statute, in that neither of the enhanced penalty statutes reclassify the degree of the offense. See Dominguez v. State, 461 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

ld. at 726.

The Committee Note to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(10)<sup>4</sup> states: "If an offender is convicted under an enhancement statute, the reclassified degree should be used as the basis for scoring the primary offense in the appropriate category." For the same reason that an early commission comment to this note, which comment had not itself been adopted, in referring both to the habitual offender statute and the instant mask statute confuted enhancement (extension) of sentence with reclassification, and was therefore recognized as "patently

The Committee Notes were initially adopted as part of the guidelines. <u>See The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure (3.701, 3.988</u> -- <u>Sentencing Guidelines</u>), 451 So. 2d 824 (Fla. 1984).

erroneous"<sup>5</sup> and thereafter eliminated,<sup>6</sup> <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), which applied § 775.0845 as a reclassification statute, was incorrectly decided and should be rejected by this Court.

Jennings cursorily, on the basis of language added to the Committee Note in 1985, held that the mask statute "reveals language that distinguishes it to from the habitual offender statute" and which requires that each offense "shall be punishable as if it were reclassified upward as an offense of the next higher degree." Id. at 1374.

Jennings cited, inter alia, <u>Dominguez v. State</u>, which lends no support whatsoever to its result. Moreover, <u>Jennings</u> overlooks the, at best, inherent ambiguity in the language of the approved Committee Note. In interposing the words "enhancement" and "reclassification", the Committee Note necessarily refers to those statutes which by their terms operate as a reclassification of the offense, not those which, as do both the mask statute and the habitual offender statute, simply permit an extension of the available maximum sentence. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Spicer v. State</u>, <u>id</u>.

The inception of § 775.0845 preceded the inception of the sentencing guidelines. Ch. 81-249, § 2, Laws of Fla. Therefore, as enacted the mask statute clearly had reference, in contradistinction to extant reclassification statutes, only to extending the statutory maximum, just as did the habitual offender statute. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>See Cuthbert v. State</u>, 459 So. 2d 1098, 1099 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984),  $\underline{\text{rev.}}$  den., 467 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1985).

See Dominguez v. State, 461 So. 2d 277, 278 n.5 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

See The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure, 468 So. 2d 220, 225 (Fla. 1985).

imprecision and ambiguity in the language of the Committee Note to Rule 3.701(d)(10) must, as appropriately recognized in <u>Spicer</u>, as a penalty provision be construed in favor of the defendant. <u>See also Lamont v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1982).

Any presumed disparity or inequity in treating robbery with a mask only partially more severely than robbery, i.e., allowing extension of the statutory maximum<sup>8</sup> but not re-gradation of the offense for adjudicatory or guidelines scoring purposes, is not a basis to read in what extant sentencing provisions do not, as demonstrated by the foregoing analysis, so provide. As this Court has repeatedly observed, that is a matter for legislative consideration or redress.

See, e.g., Armstrong v. State, 656 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1995) (upon holding that under applicable statutes consecutive county jail sentences which exceed one year for misdemeanors, unlike felonies, are permitted):

We acknowledge that under this interpretation it is possible that a person convicted of two felonies would be sentenced to only one year in county jail, depending upon the sentencing guidelines, whereas a person committing two misdemeanors may receive consecutive one-year terms. However, we find that it is properly within the purview of the Legislature to weigh the various policy considerations and determine whether defendants should be sentenced to more than a year in county jail if convicted of multiple misdemeanors.

ld. at 56-57.

See also Lamont v. State, 610 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 1992):

We agree with the district court below that it does not appear rational that the habitual offender statute subjects career criminal who commit less serious felony offenses to enhanced punishment but does not do the same for those who commit the most serious offenses. However, as

A trial court can, of course, sentence to the (extended) statutory maximum either where the total scoring reaches or exceeds it, or where there are grounds for departure. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(10), (11).

recognized by the dissent below, section 775.084 by its plain terms contains no extended term of imprisonment for life felony convictions.

<u>ld.</u> at 437.

See also State v. Barnes, 595 So. 2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1992) (recognizing that while it would make more sense for the habitual offender act to require prior convictions to be sequential, that is not a basis for a court to alter the terms of the statute; "The sequential conviction requirement provides a basic, underlying reasonable justification for the imposition of the habitual sentence, and we suggest that the legislature re-examine this area of the law to assure that the present statute carries out its intent and purpose."); Nephew v. State, 580 So. 2d 305, 306 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (recognizing, upon rejecting an argument of unconstitutional vagueness of the twenty-five year mandatory minimum sentence provision for attempted murder of a law enforcement officer, that a defendant could receive a lesser sentence for completing a particular gradation of murder than for attempting the same offense; "This . . . perhaps warrants re-visitation by the Legislature[.]"), cause dismissed, 593 So. 2d 1052 (Fla. 1992).

The controlling principle is that set forth in <u>Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991):

One of the most fundamental principles of Florida law is that penal statutes must be strictly construed according to their letter. . . . This principle ultimately rests on the due process requirement that criminal statutes must say with some precision exactly what is prohibited. . . . Words and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute.

The rule of strict construction also rests on the doctrine that the power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch. . . . This principle can be honored only if criminal statutes are

applied in their strict sense, not if the courts use some minor vagueness to extend the statutes' breadth beyond the strict language approved by the legislature. To do otherwise would violate the separation of powers.

Id. at 1312-13. (Citations omitted.)

The erroneous reclassification to, and use in guidelines scoring of, a first-degree rather than a second-degree felony is both injurious to the defendant because the reduction of the corresponding twenty points would place him within the next lower permitted range (R. 49; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(c)), and is cognizable as fundamental error apparent on the face of the record. See, e.g., Gordon v. State, 603 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Cerrato v. State, 576 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Cox v. State, 530 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); Hall v. State, 483 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, strong-armed robbery with a mask is properly graded as a second-degree felony, and scored as such under the sentencing guidelines. Therefore, this Court should approve <u>Woods v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>Archibald v. State</u>, 646 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), and <u>Spicer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); should disapprove the lower court's decision and that of <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), and reverse and remand for resentencing within the next lower permitted sentencing guidelines range.