047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,155

FILED
SID J. WHITE
SEP 22 1995

JOSE CABAL

Petitioner,

Chief Deputy Clerk

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

KEITH S. KROMASH
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar Number 0008869
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Ave., Suite N921
P.O. Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441
fax 377-5655

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, JOSE CABAL, was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The State of Florida was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbols "R." and "T." will refer to the record on appeal and the transcripts of the proceedings, respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the Defendant's statement of the case and facts as substantially correct. Any additional facts will be reflected in the Argument section with appropriate record citations.

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RELYING ON SECTION 775.0845 TO ENHANCE THE OFFENSE OF ROBBERY FROM A SECOND DEGREE FELONY TO A FIRST DEGREE FELONY BASED UPON THE DEFENDANT'S USE OF A MASK.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The legislative intent of §775.0845 requires trial judges to impose increased punishments for defendants who commit crimes while To effectuate this legislative intent, it is wearing masks. necessary to enhance the degree of the primary offense to the next higher degree of offense and to use the enhanced degree of offense as the primary offense at conviction on a defendant's sentencing guidelines scoresheet. This allows trial judges to impose increased punishments for those defendants who commit crimes while To simply increase the statutory maximum to the wearing masks. next higher degree of offense, as the Defendant contends, would, in cases where the guidelines sentence for offenses are below the statutory maximum, not permit the trial judge to actually impose increased punishments. This would contravene the legislative intent of §775.0845.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RELIED ON SECTION 775.0845 TO ENHANCE THE OFFENSE OF ROBBERY FROM A SECOND DEGREE FELONY TO A FIRST DEGREE FELONY BASED UPON THE DEFENDANT'S USE OF A MASK.

In the instant case, the jury found the Defendant guilty of robbery with a hood and/or a mask. (R. 28; T. 859). Additionally, the trial court adjudicated the Defendant guilty of robbery with a hood and/or a mask, in violation of §§812.13(2)(c), 777.011 and 775.0845, Fla. Stats. (1993). (R. 44; T. 862). The only issue on appeal is whether §775.0845 operates to enhance the crime of robbery from a second degree felony to a first degree felony such that the primary offense at conviction on the Defendant's sentencing guideline scoresheet should reflect a first degree felony. The State submits that it does, and the trial court therefore properly imposed a guidelines sentence of four and a half years.

The Defendant argues that although §775.0845 "represents a functional extension of the statutory maximum for conviction . . ., it neither raises the gradation of offense in and of itself nor allows a higher gradation of offense to be assumed for guidelines scoring purposes." (Petitioner's brief at 5). As will be demonstrated below, the Defendant's argument is misplaced because if his reading of §775.0845 is given effect, the Defendant's actual penalty for committing the offense of robbery with a mask would not have been increased, in contravention of the legislature's intent as expressed in §775.0845, Fla. Stat. (1993).

In analyzing the meaning of a statute, "[i]t is a fundamental

rule of statutory construction that legislative intent is the polestar by which the court must be guided, and this intent must be given effect even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute." State v. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981); see also, Speights v. State, 414 So. 2d 574, 576 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); State v. Miller, 468 So. 2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), pet. for rev. denied, 479 So. 2d 118 (Fla. 1985). Moreover, "construction of a statute which would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result or would render a statute purposeless should be avoided." Webb, 398 So. 2d at 824; see also, Drury v. Harding, 461 So. 2d 104, 108 (Fla. 1984); Dorsey v. State, 402 So. 2d 1178, 1183 (Fla. 1981); Ellis v. State, 622 So. 2d 991, 1001 (Fla. 1993) (citation omitted); Speights, 414 So. 2d at 578; Miller, 468 So. 2d at 1053.

Additionally, "[a]lthough there is no fixed construction of the word 'shall,' it is normally meant to be mandatory in nature." S.R. v. State, 346 So. 2d 1018, 1019 (Fla. 1977) (citing, Neal v. Bryant, 149 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1962)). Moreover, where the word "shall" refers to the imposition of a legislatively intended penalty, it is mandatory. State v. Gelber, 573 So. 2d 92, 93 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

Section 775.0845 provides as follows:

The <u>penalty</u> for any criminal offense . . . <u>shall be increased</u> as provided in this section if, while committing the offense, the offender was wearing a hood, mask, or other device that concealed his identity.

(4) A felony of the second degree shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the first

degree.

§775.0845(4), Fla. Stat. (1993) (emphasis added). As made evident by the language of the statute, it is clear that the legislature intended to require increased punishments for all individuals who commit crimes while concealing their identity. Also, since the legislature stated that the penalty "shall be increased" for any defendant who commits a crime while concealing his or her identity, it is clear that it is mandatory for a trial court to increase a defendant's punishment. S.R., 346 So. 2d at 1019; Gelber, 573 So. 2d at 93. Finally, it should be noted that the language used in §775.0845 mandates an actual increase in a defendant's punishment for the use of a mask during the commission of a crime -- not a potential increase in a defendant's punishment.

The Defendant's interpretation of §775.0845, however, contravenes the legislative intent of actually increasing the punishment for all defendants who commit crimes with masks. fact, the Defendant's reading of §775.0845 renders the statute virtually meaningless, in violation of the rules of statutory construction. Drury, 461 So. 2d at 108; Dorsey, 402 So. 2d at 1183; Ellis, 622 So. 2d at 1001; Webb, 398 So. 2d at 824; Speights, 414 So. 2d at 578; Miller, 468 So. 2d at 1053. That is, in situations where a defendant's guidelines sentence is below the statutory maximum, as will be the case the majority of the time, simply allowing for a greater statutory maximum does not actually increase a defendant's punishment for the commission of a crime with a mask, as §775.0845 mandates. In essence, if the Defendant's reading of

§775.0845 is given effect, only a defendant's potential punishment will be increased where the State charges a defendant with §775.0845.

Moreover, given the Defendant's reading of §775.0845, there are only two situations in which a defendant can actually receive an enhanced punishment for committing a crime with a mask. That is, if a defendant has a considerable number of prior felonies which can be included as prior offenses on the defendant's scoresheet, it is possible that the scoresheet point total could provide for a prison sentence which would exceed the statutory maximum for the primary offense at conviction. In such a situation, however, a defendant is actually being punished for his prior offenses — not necessarily for committing a crime with a mask. The legislature certainly did not intend to limit the operation of the mask statute to repeat offenders.

Similarly, if a defendant has committed a large number of crimes which are part of the same transaction or occurrence and which can be considered additional offenses at conviction for guidelines scoring purposes, it is possible that a defendant's scoresheet point total could provide for a prison sentence which would exceed the statutory maximum for the primary offense at conviction. The State submits, however, that both of the above described situations in which a defendant's guidelines scoresheet provides for a sentence which exceeds the statutory maximum for the primary offense at conviction are exceptions rather than the norm.

Therefore, if the Defendant's reading of §775.0845 is given

effect, only defendants who have lengthy criminal histories or defendants who commit extended crime sprees will be punished for committing a crime with a mask. Since the legislature clearly intended to punish all defendants who commit crimes with masks, it is evident that the Defendant's interpretation of §775.0845 is inconsistent with the legislature's intent.

The instant case illustrates how the Defendant's interpretation of §775.0845 is inconsistent with the legislature's intent and how the State's interpretation is consistent with the legislature's intent. For example, if the Defendant's robbery conviction had not been enhanced from a second degree felony to a first degree felony, the Defendant would have scored only fifty points for the primary offense at conviction, and he would have scored a total of fifty-seven points. Given this point total, the maximum sentence the trial court could have imposed would have been three and a half years. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.998(c). This is far below the fifteen year statutory maximum for a second degree felony. §775.082(3)(c), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Furthermore, given the Defendant's interpretation of §775.0845, the statutory maximum for the commission of a robbery with a mask would have been increased from fifteen to thirty years. §775.032(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993). Nevertheless, the trial court could still have only imposed a maximum sentence of three and a half years, and the Defendant's actual punishment would not have been increased, in violation of the legislature's clear intent that all individuals who commit crimes while wearing masks should be

more severely punished.

On the other hand, because the trial court categorized the Defendant's robbery conviction as a first degree felony, the Defendant's point total was seventy-seven points. (R. 49). This permitted the trial court to impose an increased sentence of four and a half years. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.998(c). Hence, if the Defendant's conviction for the offense of robbery with a mask had not been enhanced from a second degree felony to a first degree felony, the Defendant's actual punishment for the crime for robbery with a mask would not have been increased to four and a half years. That is, the Defendant's conviction for robbery with a mask would not have been "punishable as if it were a felony of the first degree." §775.0845(4), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Rather, the Defendant would have been punished as if he had been convicted of a second degree felony, and the mask statute would have been rendered meaningless. By enhancing the degree of the Defendant's primary offense at conviction, the trial court fulfilled the legislative intent of §775.0845 and increased the Defendant's actual punishment for committing a robbery with a mask.

Although the above analysis discussed the mask statute in the context of the pre-1994 sentencing guidelines, the analysis is equally applicable to the 1994 sentencing guidelines. That is, under the 1994 guidelines, the Defendant's interpretation of §775.0845 still merely increases a defendant's potential sentence without increasing the actual sentence.

On the other hand, although the 1994 guidelines do not have

separate point values for different degrees of offenses, it is possible to utilize §921.0013, Fla. Stat. (1994) to enhance a defendant's primary offense at conviction by assigning it an offense level appropriate for an offense of the next higher degree. For example, if the present case had been scored pursuant to the 1994 guidelines, the Defendant's robbery conviction would been properly scored as a level 7 offense rather than a level 6 offense. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.702(c); §§921.0012 and 921.0013(3), Fla. Stats. (1994). By scoring a defendant's primary offense at conviction on a 1994 guidelines scoresheet in this manner, it is possible to increase a defendant's actual sentence for the commission of a crime with a mask, as §775.0845 mandates.

In affirming the trial court's judgment and sentence, the Third District relied on First District's case of Jennings v. State, 498 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) which gave effect to the legislative intent of §775.0845 that all defendants who commit crimes with masks be more severely punished. In Jennings, the court held that "[t]he language of the mask statute requires that each offense, i.e., misdemeanor or felony, shall be punishable as if it were reclassified upward as an offense of the next higher degree." Id. at 1374. The court therefore found that the lower court properly reclassified the defendant's act of burglary of a dwelling from a second degree felony to a first degree felony based upon the defendant's use of a mask in the commission of his crime. Id.

Additionally, the <u>Jennings</u> court rejected the defendant's

argument that "the mask statute, like the habitual offender statute, does not require reclassification of the degree of crime, but only increases the penalty." <u>Id</u>. Rather, the court held that the habitual offender statute and the mask statute are two entirely different statutes.

That is, the court found that although the habitual offender statute does not permit the reclassification of crimes upward for scoresheet purposes, it specifically delineates how a defendant's sentence should be increased. <u>Id</u>. (citing, <u>Cuthbert v. State</u>, 459 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), <u>pet. for rev. denied</u>, 467 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1985); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 483 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)). On other hand, the mask statute requires that a defendant be punished as if he or she were convicted of an offense of the next higher degree. <u>Jennings</u>, 498 So. 2d at 1374.

For example, the habitual offender statute provides that if a defendant qualifies as a habitual offender, the trial court shall sentence a defendant convicted of a second degree felony "for a term of years not exceeding thirty." §775.084(4)(a)2, Fla. Stat. (1993). By contrast, the mask statute provides that if a defendant has been convicted of a second degree felony with a mask, the crime "shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the first degree." §775.0845(4), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Moreover, the <u>Jennings</u> court properly relied on committee note (d)(10) to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701 which "explains that if an offender is convicted under an enhancement statute, the reclassified degree should be used as the basis for scoring the primary

offense in the appropriate category." <u>Jennings</u>, 498 So. 2d at 1374. Since §775.0845's title is "Wearing mask while committing offense; enhanced penalties," it is clear that the mask statute is an enhancement statute as envisioned by sentencing guidelines commission.

As such, committee note (d)(10) clearly applies to the mask statute and supports the First and Third Districts' holdings that the mask statute requires trial courts to enhance the degree of a defendant's offense for the purpose of guidelines scoring. Also, the fact that the statute's title contains the phrase "enhanced penalties" is further evidence that the legislature intended that the Defendant's crime be enhanced from a second degree felony to a first degree felony, as described in <u>Jennings</u> and in committee note (d)(10). <u>See e.g. State v. Bussey</u>, 463 So. 2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1985) (The classification of a law or part of a law in a particular title or chapter of Florida Statutes is not determinative on the issue of legislative intent, though it may be persuasive in certain circumstances).

In the instant case, based upon the authority of <u>Jennings</u>, 498 So. 2d at 1374; §775.0845(4), Fla. Stat. (1993); and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701, committee note (d)(10), the Defendant's primary offense at conviction for robbery with a mask was correctly enhanced from a second degree felony to a first degree felony. Moreover, the Defendant's primary offense at conviction was properly scored as a first degree felony. The trial court gave effect to the legislative intent that all individuals who commit crimes with masks

should be more severely punished, and the court therefore properly imposed a guidelines sentence of four and a half years.

Policy concerns also support the First and Third Districts' interpretation of §775.0845. That is, the First and Third Districts' interpretation of §775.0845 serves as a warning to criminals that if they commit crimes while concealing their identities, they will be punished more severely. However, if the Defendant's interpretation of §775.0845 is given effect, criminals will be encouraged to wear masks while they commit their crimes. That is, not only will it be more burdensome for the State to prove its cases against these criminals because identity will be more difficult to establish, but in most instances, there will be no actual increase in the punishment for the commission of a crime with a mask. Clearly, it is not in the public interest to encourage criminals to commit crimes with masks.

On the other hand, the Defendant has relied on the decisions of the Fifth and Second Districts as support for his argument. That is, in Woods v. State, 654 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); Archibald v. State, 646 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); and Spicer v. State, 615 So. 2d 725, 726 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) the Fifth and Second Districts have held that §775.0845 is an enhanced penalty statute that does not operate to reclassify the degree of a felony. Both Archibald and Woods cite Spicer as authority for their holdings.

The State submits that <u>Spicer</u>, <u>Archibald</u> and <u>Woods</u> were all wrongly decided because in concluding that §775.0845 does not

reclassify the degree of an offense, the Second and Fifth Districts ignored the basic rules of statutory construction which dictate that a court should give effect to legislative intent even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute, and that a court should not interpret a statue such that the statute is rendered meaningless. Ellis, 622 So. 2d at 1001; Drury, 461 So. 2d at 108; Dorsey, 402 So. 2d at 1183; Webb, 398 So. 2d at 824; Miller, 468 So. 2d at 1053; Speights, 414 So. 2d at 578.

That is, as previously discussed, in those situations where a defendant's sentencing guidelines provide for a sentence well below the statutory maximum for the primary offense at conviction (as exists in the instant case), simply providing for a greater statutory maximum in no way enhances the defendant's punishment. Hence, the Second and Fourth Districts' reading of §775.0845 not only subverts the legislative intent of increasing the punishment for all defendants who commit crimes with masks, but it also renders the mask statute meaningless.

Moreover, in <u>Spicer</u>, the Second District erroneously concluded that the mask statute "is similar to the habitual offender statute in that neither of the enhanced penalty statutes reclassify the degree of the offense." <u>Spicer</u>, 615 So. 2d at 726 (citing, <u>Dominguez v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)). As

The court actually states that §775.0875 is similar to the habitual offender statute. This reference to §775.0875 is most likely a typographical error because the court stated in the preceding sentence that §775.0875 is a reclassification statute. It is clear, given the context of the entire opinion, that the court was attempting to compare the mask statute with the habitual offender statue.

previously discussed, the habitual offender statute and the mask statute are entirely different statutes. Briefly, the habitual offender statute specifically delineates how a defendant's sentence should be increased, whereas the mask statute requires that a defendant be punished as if he or she were convicted of an offense of the next higher degree. Jennings, 498 So. 2d at 1374. Thus, Spicer and its progeny improperly interpreted §775.0845.

Additionally, the Defendant argues that First and Third Districts improperly interpreted §775.0845 because the "inception of §775.0845 preceded the inception of the sentencing guidelines.

... Therefore, as enacted the mask statute clearly had reference, in contradistinction to extant reclassification statutes, only to extending the statutory maximum, just as did the habitual offender statute." (Petitioner's brief at 7). This argument is flawed for two reasons.

First, while it is true that §775.0845 was enacted prior the implementation of the sentencing guidelines, <u>See</u> Ch. 81-249, §2, Laws of Fla.; Ch. 84-328, Laws of Fla., it is nevertheless presumed that the legislature had knowledge of §775.0845 when it adopted the sentencing guidelines. <u>State v. Dunmann</u>, 427 So. 2d 166, 168 (Fla. 1983) (There is a general presumption that the legislature passes statutes with knowledge of prior existing laws). Thus, the legislature intended for the mask statute to operate in conjunction with the sentencing guidelines. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701, committee note (d)(10); <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 161, 168 (Fla. 1987) (citations omitted) (Court construing statute has obligation

to adapt an interpretation that harmonizes two related statutory provisions while giving effect to both).

Second, the Defendant's attempt to analogize the habitual offender statute with the mask statute is not only inappropriate, but it also does not support his contention that §775.0845 simply extends the statutory maximum. That is, the habitual offender statute is specifically exempted from the operation of the sentencing guidelines, §775.084(4)(e), Fla. Stat. (1993), whereas the mask statute operates within the guidelines. Moreover, as discussed above, the habitual offender and the mask statutes are two entirely different statutes with the former specifically extending a sentence by years and the latter enhancing an offense by degree. Finally, the mask statute, which was not drafted to punish repeat offenders, addresses defendants who have committed crimes with masks, whereas the habitual offender statute addresses defendants who have committed prior offenses within a certain time period.

It should also be pointed out that the enhancement portion of Florida's hate crime statute, §775.085(1)(a)-(d), Fla. Stat. (1994), uses the exact same language as the mask statute. As such, the final outcome of this case will affect not only how courts utilize the mask statute in sentencing defendants who commit crimes with masks, but it will also affect how courts utilize the hate crime statute in sentencing defendants who commit crimes based upon prejudice. The State submits that if this Court approves of the decisions of Second and Fifth Districts in Spicer, Archibald and

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